RECEIVED

Apr 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MAZAR STURDIVANT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-001075

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred in permitting Ward to make an in-court identification of Appellant where Ward had never made an out-of-court identification, and where Ward was in the courtroom when the court ruled Appellant would be foreclosed from arguing identity if he waived his presence, since the unduly suggestive *in camera* confrontation resulted in an unreliable identification?

II.

Whether the court erred in denying Appellant's mistrial motion based on the unnecessarily suggestive confrontation and unreliable identification?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 10, 2019, an Horry County Grand Jury indicted Mazar Sturdivant, Appellant, with two counts of armed robbery. Appellant was tried before the Honorable Bentley Price and a jury, on July 18, 2022, and July 20 – 21, 2022. Appellant was tried jointly with his codefendant, Dlanor Tilton. Appellant was represented by Johnny Gardner. Dlanor Tilton, who was tried in his absence, was represented by Eric Fox. Joshua Holford and Elizabeth Farmer prosecuted the case.¹

Appellant was convicted as indicted. He was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of ten years. Tilton was also convicted as indicted.²

This appeal follows.

¹ R. 1; R. 441.

² R. 417, ll. 10-23; R. 425, ll. 2-22; R. 460.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 28, 2018, Matthew Beckoff came to Myrtle Beach and he used Grindr to find a young man for sex. Grindr is an all-male dating application (app) that uses geo-location to identify other males nearby. Matches are based on location and sexual preferences, such as preferred sexual position. Beckoff was directed to an address on Bryant Street. He was robbed at gunpoint by two suspects when he pulled up to the address at roughly 10:30 p.m. The suspects took his phone, wallet, and cash, and told him to leave.³

Beckoff called the police an hour and a half later. Beckoff initially told the police the suspects were a thirty-year-old and a forty-year-old black man. However, Beckoff later told the police the suspects looked like teenagers. Beckoff admitted he lied to the police about the suspects' ages. Beckoff "might" have told the police he did not see the suspects' faces well.⁴

The following night, December 29, 2018, Christopher Ward came to Myrtle Beach, and he also used Grindr to find a young man for sex. Ward drove a white sport utility vehicle (SUV). He was directed to the same address on Bryant Street shortly before 8:11 p.m. When Ward arrived, two suspects came out of the bushes with guns. Ward was ordered out of the car. The suspects wanted his keys. One of the suspects ran off. Ward ran off. The other suspect chased Ward and hit him in the head with a pistol. Ward ran to a nearby home, asked for help, and the police were called.⁵

³ R. 161, ll. 14-21; R. 181, l. 6 – 186, l. 17; R. 182, l. 9 – 183, l. 3; *see Herrick v. Grindr, LLC*, 306 F. Supp. 3d 579, 584 (S.D.N.Y. 2018); *Saponaro v. Grindr, LLC*, 93 F. Supp. 3d 319, 321 (D.N.J. 2015).

⁴ R. 112, l. 17 – 113, l. 20; R. 116, l. 3 – 117, l. 5; R. 119, l. 4 – 123, l. 4; R. 184, ll. 3-15; R. 187, l. 5 – 191, l. 12.

⁵ R. 161, l. 23 – 162, l. 4; R. 213, l. 8 – 221, l. 7; R. 312, l. 8 – 318, l. 2; R. 213, l. 23 – 214, l. 5.

Law enforcement submitted the Grindr photograph to SLED's facial recognition program. The program matched that photograph to a photograph of nineteen-year-old Dlanor Tilton. Sergeant Gibson compared the Grindr photograph to additional photographs of Tilton from the Department of Motor Vehicles and from social media, and he agreed the Grindr photograph was Tilton.⁶

Law enforcement obtained video surveillance footage from a Circle K convenience store near the Bryant Street address. The video footage showed that at 10:13 p.m. on December 28, 2018, two young black men were inside the store buying drinks and snacks. Sergeant Gibson believed the two young men were Tilton and seventeen-year-old Appellant.⁷

Tilton lived next door to the Bryant Street address. Ward's white SUV was still in the driveway at the Bryant Street address when police arrived. Both Appellant and Tilton were found at Tilton's home by law enforcement in the following days. When police served a search warrant at Tilton's home, they found two realistic-looking black BB pistols. Ward's wallet was found inside the home. Appellant's wallet was also found inside the home.⁸

Tilton and Appellant were both interviewed by police. According to Investigator Amos, Appellant admitted being present at Tilton's home when Ward was robbed—he remembered seeing Ward's white SUV. However, Appellant denied participating in the robberies. Dlanor Tilton admitted matching with Beckoff and Ward on Grindr, directing them to Bryant Street, and

⁶ R. 146, l. 22 – 152 l. 22; R. 157, l. 8 – 161, l. 4.

⁷ See State's Exhibit #7 (State's Exhibit #7 is the video surveillance footage from the Circle K store and is on file with this Court); R. 127, l. 1 – 130, l. 13; R. 338, ll. 2-4.

⁸ R. 226, l. 14 – 229, l. 8; R. 236, l. 11 – 250, l. 20; R. 263, l. 25 – 264, l. 16; R. 281, ll. 7-12.

meeting up with them, but Tilton denied that any robberies occurred. Tilton claimed he often used the Grindr app to get strangers to buy food for him.⁹

Tilton and Appellant were both charged with the December 28 armed robbery of Beckoff and the December 29 armed robbery of Ward. The State tried the defendants jointly, and it tried the two incidents together as well. During pretrial motions, the court granted a motion to sequester witnesses.¹⁰

Tilton did not appear for trial and the joint trial proceeded in his absence. Appellant was present for the first day of trial. Appellant was warned that he must be present for trial the next day. However, he missed the second day of trial, and a bench warrant was issued. During the second day of trial, Beckoff testified. Beckoff was shown still photographs from the Circle K surveillance footage and he claimed he was one hundred percent certain the young men in the footage were the suspects. Beckoff said he wished the suspects were in court so he could identify them in person. Beckoff claimed he positively identified their photographs to law enforcement. However, no police officers testified about showing the suspects' photographs to Beckoff and no *Neil v. Biggers* hearings were held.¹¹

The third day of trial, Appellant reappeared of his own volition, and Appellant explained he had been in Socastee at his mother's house without transportation the day before. The defense asked to waive Appellant's presence. The court observed that Ward was about to testify, and the court stated it thought Appellant should be present in case Ward could identify him. The court:

⁹ R. 163, l. 15 – 167, l. 16; R. 283, l. 20 – 289, l. 14.

¹⁰ R. 91, l. 16 – 92, l. 19.

¹¹ R. 21, ll. 16-22; R. 137, l. 24 – 138, l. 3; R. 185, ll. 13-17; R. 186, ll. 2-10; R. 203, ll. 14-25; R. 51, l. 22 – 52, l. 4.

“I’m worried about the fact that, if he is here at trial—and the last victim indicated that he wanted to positively identify him and now you have another victim that may potentially be able to do the same.” The court ruled that if Appellant wanted to argue identity to the jury, then he would not be permitted to waive his presence—only if Appellant was present for Ward’s testimony so that Ward had the opportunity to identify him could Appellant raise identity as a defense.¹²

Defense counsel argued an in-court identification by Ward would be too suggestive to be admissible. Defense counsel noted that Ward had been in the courtroom when the court ruled Appellant’s presence would be tied to his ability to present an identity defense. Defense counsel also argued an identification would be too suggestive since it was apparent Appellant was the defendant in the courtroom. Counsel argued the circumstances had amounted to a “showup” [sic]. Defense counsel cited *United States v. Greene*, 704 F.3d 298 (4th Cir. 2013), to support his argument. The court permitted Ward to make an in-court identification of Appellant before the jury. Defense counsel argued the identification should be stricken.¹³

The court noted Appellant could cross-examine Ward about the identification but agreed that it was problematic Ward was present when he ruled on Appellant’s request to waive his presence. “He can bring that up and raise cane about it, but that does not cure the fact that the jury is never going to know that the victim was in here during the options that I gave out.” The court stated a curative instruction would be insufficient to mitigate the harm. Defense counsel asked for a mistrial. The court denied the mistrial motion and ruled that it would instruct the jury

¹² R. 296, l. 20 – 297, l. 17; R. 305, l. 5 – 309, l. 25; R. 306, ll. 15-19.

¹³ R. 306, ll. 15-21; R. 310, ll. 9-10; R. 311, ll. 2-12; R. 318, l. 5 – 326, l. 20.

it could give Ward's testimony whatever weight they chose. The court ruled the matter was one of credibility for the jury.¹⁴

Of note, although Appellant had a face tattoo under his eye, apparently neither Beckoff nor Ward included a face tattoo in their suspect descriptions to law enforcement. Appellant testified in his own defense. Appellant agreed he was one of the young men captured on the Circle K footage, and he admitted he spent time at Tilton's house. Appellant denied taking part in the robberies. Appellant also denied telling police he saw a white car outside Tilton's house but later said he did not remember. The jury deliberated for two hours but Appellant was convicted as indicted.¹⁵

¹⁴ R. 326, l. 21 – 329, l. 24.

¹⁵ R. 345, ll. 8-19; R. 349, l. 11 – 363, l. 13; R. 356, l. 25; R. 417, ll. 10-20; R. 415, l. 1 – 417, l. 2.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court erred in permitting Ward to make an in-court identification of Appellant where Ward had never made an out-of-court identification, and where Ward was in the courtroom when the court ruled Appellant would be foreclosed from arguing identity if he waived his presence, since the unduly suggestive *in camera* confrontation resulted in an unreliable identification.

A. Standard of review

“[W]hether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact.” *State v. Moore*, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) (finding show-up identification unreliable as a matter of law). Trial courts must hold a preliminary hearing “once it is contended that an identification is obtained under unnecessarily suggestive circumstances arranged by state action, regardless of the witness’s prior knowledge of the accused.” *State v. Liverman*, 398 S.C. 130, 140, 727 S.E.2d 422, 427 (2012) (finding error in trial court holding the “functional equivalent” of a *Neil v. Biggers* hearing).

“Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” *Id.* “In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court.” *Id.* Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

B. Discussion

i. Introduction

Ward was present in the courtroom when the judge ruled that Appellant would not be permitted to argue an identity defense unless he remained in the courtroom when Ward testified, so that Ward would have the opportunity to identify Appellant. Appellant was the only defendant in the courtroom at the time. These circumstances presented an unnecessarily suggestive confrontation which occurred outside the presence of the jury, and resulted in an unreliable in-court identification. The trial judge correctly recognized that neither he nor Appellant's counsel would be able to adequately explain these circumstances to the jury. On these unusual facts, the court should have held an *in camera* hearing or otherwise excluded the identification.

ii. Due process requires the exclusion of an identification resulting from an unnecessarily suggestive confrontation when there was a substantial likelihood of misidentification.

Due process protection against the admission of evidence deriving from suggestive identification procedures guards against a substantial likelihood of misidentification. *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 196 (1972). "It is the likelihood of misidentification which violates a defendant's right to due process . . . Suggestive confrontations are disapproved because they increase the likelihood of misidentification, and unnecessarily suggestive ones are condemned for the further reason that the increased chance of misidentification is gratuitous." *Id.*, 409 U.S. at 198.

The identification must be suppressed if the procedures used were "so unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification that [the defendant] was denied due process of law." *Id.*, 409 U.S. at 196 (quoting *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293, 302 (1967)). To determine whether an unnecessarily suggestive confrontation requires the exclusion of

evidence, the court must consider whether the totality of circumstances indicates the identification was nevertheless reliable. *Id.*, 409 U.S. at 199. The factors to be considered in evaluating the likelihood of misidentification include the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation." *Id.*, 409 U.S. at 199-200. "Against these factors is to be weighed the corrupting effect of the suggestive identification itself." *Manson v. Braithwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 114 (1977). Where there is a substantial likelihood of misidentification, the evidence must be excluded. *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 201.

The United States Supreme Court has developed a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of an out-of-court identification. First, a court must first determine whether the identification process was unduly suggestive. It next must determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. *State v. Moore*, 343 S.C. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 447 (citing *Neil v. Biggers*; *Manson v. Braithwaite*, *supra*). "The United States Supreme Court has not yet addressed the question of whether first time in-court identifications are in the category of unnecessarily suggestive procedures that trigger due process protections." *State v. Dickson*, 141 A.3d 810, 821 (Conn. 2016).

In *State v. Simmons*, 308 S.C. 80, 81-82, 417 S.E.2d 92, 93 (1992), the defendant moved to suppress an in-court identification by an undercover officer who bought drugs at the defendant's home. After the defendant was arrested, the officer was told the defendant was having a bond hearing, and the officer witnessed the defendant when her bond was set. The

defense contended the in-court identification was the result of the bond hearing, not observation at the time of the crime. The South Carolina Supreme Court found the denial of the motion to suppress was error—the question was whether the identification arose solely from the witness’s observation the night of the drug sale. “The identification must be free of and independent of any later suggestion that Simmons was the person who sold him the crack. The identification may be so tainted by the circumstances surrounding the bond hearing as to require that it be suppressed.” *Id.*, 308 S.C. at 82, 417 S.E.2d at 93.

The Supreme Court remanded the matter for an *in camera* hearing on whether the in-court identification was “of independent origin [or] was the tainted product of circumstances surrounding the bond hearing . . .” *Id.*, 308 S.C. at 82, 417 S.E.2d at 94. The Supreme Court explained,

In *State v. Cash*, 257 S.C. 249, 185 S.E.2d 525 (1971), this Court adopted a *per se* rule requiring the court to hold an *in camera* hearing when the state offers witnesses whose testimony identifies the defendant as the person who committed the crime and the defendant challenges the in-court identification as being tainted by a previous illegal identification. *Contra Watkins v. Souder*, 449 U.S. 341, 101 S.Ct. 654, 66 L.Ed.2d 549 (1981). The lower court refused to hold a hearing. This error warrants reversal.

Simmons, 308 S.C. at 82–83, 417 S.E.2d at 93. *See also State v. Ramsey*, 345 S.C. 607, 613, 550 S.E.2d 294, 297 (2001) (discussing necessity for *in camera* hearing in situations where an in-court identification is the product of an unlawful confrontation or lineup); *Coleman v. Alabama*, 399 U.S. 1, 5-6 (1970) (evidence supported finding identifications were entirely based on observations at the time of the assault and not at all induced by the conduct of the lineup).

iii. The holding in *State v. Lewis*, that *Neil v. Biggers* does not apply to first time, in-court identifications, should be distinguished.

Lewis held that “the *Neil v. Biggers* analysis should not be extended to protect criminal defendants against identifications that occur for the first time in court without a pre-trial identification.” *State v. Lewis*, 363 S.C. 37, 42, 609 S.E.2d 515, 517 (2005). In *Lewis*, the witness had never identified the defendants prior to trial. *Lewis* objected to the witness’ in-court identification and asked for an *in camera* hearing to determine the reliability of the identification. The trial judge denied the request and the Supreme Court affirmed. *Id.*, 363 S.C. at 41, 609 S.E.2d at 517. “We conclude, as the majority of courts have, that *Neil v. Biggers* does not apply to in-court identifications and that the remedy for any alleged suggestiveness of an in-court identification is cross-examination and argument.” *Id.*, 363 S.C. at 42, 609 S.E.2d at 518.

State v. Lewis should be distinguished. In *Lewis*, unlike in this case, there was no indication the witness was confronted with the defendant in the courtroom prior to his testimony. See *United States v. Archibald*, 734 F.2d 938, 941 (2nd Cir. 1984) (any witness can determine which of the individuals in the courtroom is the defendant, which is the defense lawyer, and which is the prosecutor); *United States v. Greene*, 704 F.3d 298 (4th Cir. 2013) (in-court identification by witness who never made out-of-court identification was unnecessarily suggestive where it was clear who in the courtroom was the defendant).

More importantly, in *Lewis*, there was not the corrupting effect there was in this case of the witness hearing the trial judge’s ruling that the defendant should be present in the courtroom so that the witness could try to identify him. See *Simmons v. United States*, 390 U.S. 377, 383 (1968) (chance of misidentification is heightened if police indicate to witness they have evidence one of the persons pictured committed the crime); *United States v. Rogers*, 126 F.2d 655, 658 (5th Cir. 1997) (“Even the best intentioned among us cannot be sure that our recollection is not

influenced by the fact that we are looking at a person we know the Government has charged with a crime.”); *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218 (1967) (major factor contributing to “mistaken identification has been the degree of suggestion inherent in the manner in which the prosecution presents the suspect to witnesses for pretrial identification.”). The effect of the witness overhearing the judge’s ruling on identity cannot be overstated—it is hard to imagine a circumstance more unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to misidentification.

The reasoning in *Lewis* does not work when applied to these facts. “[W]e conclude *Neil v. Biggers* does not apply to a first-time in-court identification **because the judge is present and can adequately address relevant problems; the jury is physically present to witness the identification**, rather than merely hearing testimony about it; **and cross-examination offers defendants an adequate safeguard** or remedy against suggestive examinations.” *Lewis*, 363 S.C. at 43, 609 S.E.2d at 518 (emphasis added). Importantly, although the judge was there to address problems, the judge did not adequately address this problem. Nor was the jury present during the *in camera* ruling when Ward was confronted with Appellant. The trial judge recognized that cross-examination was not an adequate safeguard under these unusual circumstances because neither the court nor counsel could explain that Ward was confronted with Appellant during the court’s ruling about identity. *Lewis* should be distinguished.

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