RECEIVED

Feb 05 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-001075

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MAZAR NATHANIEL STURDIVANT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

In the event—and only in the event—an identification procedure is found to have been unnecessarily and unduly suggestive, it must then be determined whether the suggestiveness of the procedure resulted in a substantial likelihood of misidentification. Liverman, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426. Significantly, identification evidence may still be admissible if the State can prove by clear and convincing evidence the identification is reliable notwithstanding the suggestiveness of the identification procedure employed. Govan, 372 S.C. at 559, 643 S.E.2d at 95-96; see State v. Brown, 356 S.C. 496, 504, 589 S.E.2d 781, 785 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony.”). In determining whether the identification is reliable, a court must look to: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness’s degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness’s prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5) the amount of time between the crime and the identification. Govan, 372 S.C. at 559, 643 S.E.2d at 96; see also State v. Scipio, 283 S.C. 124, 127, 322 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1984) (“The reliability of an identification is determined by the facts.”). Upon examining those factors, a court ordinarily should admit identification evidence and allow the jury to determine its worth “if the indicia of reliability are strong enough to outweigh the corrupting effect of the *police-arranged* suggestive circumstances[.]” Perry, 565 U.S. at 232 (emphasis added); see Harker v. Maryland, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1983) (instructing the exclusion of

evidence is a “drastic sanction” and should be “limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect”).

Importantly though, due process concerns are *only* raised in cases in which government officials used an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure. See Perry, 565 U.S. at 232 n. 1 (“[W]hat triggers due process concerns is police use of an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure[.]”); see also Liverman, 398 S.C. at 140, 727 S.E.2d at 427 (recognizing preliminary judicial inquiry regarding the reliability of identification evidence is only required when “it is contended that an identification is obtained under unnecessarily suggestive circumstances arranged by state action”). If no improper law enforcement activity is involved, there is no proper basis upon which to exclude identification evidence as there is nothing to deter, and the reliability of the identification evidence will be up to the jury to determine after the evidence is tested through the ordinary mechanisms of trial, including vigorous cross-examination. See Perry, 565 U.S. at 232-233 (“Our decisions . . . turn on the presence of state action and aim to deter police from rigging identification procedures, for example, at a lineup, showup, or photographic array. When no improper law enforcement activity is involved, we hold, it suffices to test reliability through the rights and opportunities generally designed for that purpose, notably, the presence of counsel at postindictment lineups, vigorous cross-examination, protective rules of evidence, and jury instructions on both the fallibility of eyewitness identification and the requirement that guilt be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” (footnote omitted)); see also State v. Brown, 528 N.E.2d 523, 533 (Ohio 1988) (“The rationale for excluding a tainted pretrial identification is to protect the defendant from misconduct by the state. In the facts before us, there was no state action. . . . The alleged suggestiveness of the identification, therefore, goes to weight and reliability of the testimony rather than

admissibility.”); see generally Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236-237 (2011) (recognizing the exclusionary rule solely exists to deter future constitutional violations).

Notably, in State v. Lewis, 363 S.C. 37, 43-44, 609 S.E.2d 515, 518-519 (2005), our Supreme Court addressed an appellate challenge to the propriety of a trial judge’s decision to admit a first-time in-court identification without first conducting an in camera hearing to determine the reliability of the identification. In that case, Lewis and several co-defendants were charged with armed robbery, first-degree criminal sexual conduct, and other charges after they committed heinous acts against a family travelling through the state. Id. at 39-40, 609 S.E.2d at 516-517. After the incident, Armstrong, one of the victims, spoke with police, identified the race of the assailants, and provided a general description of their height, facial hair, and clothing. Id. at 40, 363 S.E.2d at 517. Subsequent to that, Lewis and his co-defendants were arrested and brought to trial, and, during trial, the trial judge permitted Armstrong—who had never previously identified any of the perpetrators—to identify Lewis and Armstrong for the first time in the courtroom over objection and without conducting any in camera hearings on the matter. Id. After he was convicted, Lewis appealed, challenging the admission of the identification evidence in his case. Id. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge’s ruling in that regard, and the Supreme Court subsequently granted a writ of certiorari to review the matter. Id. at 41-42, 363 S.E.2d at 517. On certiorari, our Supreme Court recognized there was suggestiveness inherent in any in-court identification. Id. at 43 n. 11, 609 S.E.2d at 518 n. 11. Nevertheless, consistent with the majority view in the United States, our Supreme Court concluded “that Neil v. Biggers does not apply to in-court identifications and that the remedy for any alleged suggestiveness of an in-court identification is *cross-examination and argument*.” Id. at 42, 609 S.E.2d at 518 (emphasis added). In reaching that conclusion, our Supreme Court explained the extra

protections afforded when a *pre-trial* identification procedure that occurs *beyond the immediate supervision of the court* has been employed “are not applicable to an in-court identification because the witness’ testimony is subject to the same rules of evidence, witness credibility, and cross-examination as all testimony in a criminal trial.” *Id.* at 43, 609 S.E.2d at 518. As a result, the Supreme Court concluded Lewis’s request for an *in camera* hearing was properly rejected and the first-time in-court identification evidence was properly admitted in Lewis’s case. *Id.* at 43, 363 S.E.2d at 518.

In the case *sub judice*, Sturdivant readily conceded at trial and continues to concede on appeal no out-of-court identification procedure was employed in his case and, thus, Ward was never presented with a prior opportunity to make an identification of him outside of the immediate supervision of the trial court. Nevertheless, Sturdivant—while ignoring the fact Ward had a constitutional right to be present during the trial by virtue of being a victim of crime—maintains Ward was “confronted with” him prior to testifying solely by virtue of the fact Ward was present *in the courtroom* when the trial judge conducted an *in camera* discussion with the parties in response to defense counsel’s improper request for Sturdivant to be permitted to voluntarily absent himself from his trial.⁴ Based on that purported “confrontation,” Sturdivant maintains due process somehow required the exclusion of Ward’s identification of him as one of the robbers because the “unnecessarily suggestive confrontation caused a substantial likelihood of misidentification.” Beyond that, Sturdivant maintains the trial judge should have granted a

⁴ Obviously, defense counsel’s request in that regard was improper and should have been immediately rejected by the trial judge. See *State v. Moore*, 308 S.C. 349, 351, 417 S.E.2d 869, 870 (1992) (instructing a criminal defendant has “no constitutional right not to be present at trial” in order to avoid being identified in the courtroom by a prosecution witness).

mistrial based on the admission of that identification evidence, which he characterizes as “tainted” and “unreliable.”⁵

However, just like the victim in Lewis, Ward never previously made an identification of Sturdivant until he was on the witness stand during trial, *including* during the brief in camera discussion that occurred in which the trial judge noted Ward “may” potentially be able to make an identification if Sturdivant was present in the courtroom during Ward’s testimony. See State v. Heller, 399 S.C. 157, 177, 731 S.E.2d 312, 323 (Ct. App. 2012) (“Our courts have refused . . . to extend the requirements of a Biggers hearing to protect criminal defendants against identifications that occur for the first time *in court*, without a pretrial identification.”); cf. Brown, 356 S.C. at 504, 589 S.E.2d at 785 (explaining an out-of-court show-up identification procedure may be proper even when the police refer to the suspect as a suspect, the suspect is handcuffed, and the suspect in the presence of law enforcement officers). Thus, the only confrontation that occurred between Ward and Sturdivant—outside of the one that occurred during the crime itself, which had afforded Ward an opportunity to see his assailant’s face—was one that was necessary and guaranteed by the constitutional right to confrontation at trial between an accuser and accused, and Ward’s first-time identification of Sturdivant was made during their face-to-face meeting *in the courtroom* that took place as a result of that core constitutional right. See Coy v.

⁵ As support for his current claim regarding the supposed lack of reliability of the identification evidence, Sturdivant notes he has a dollar sign tattoo under his eye that was “apparently” never referenced by Ward and Beckhoff. (App. Br. p. 7; p. 15). Notably though, defense counsel did not make a similar claim at any point during trial when attacking the reliability of the identification evidence. See State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). And, significantly, the likely reason he did not do so was Sturdivant’s own testimony seemed to suggest he got his facial tattoo—which does not appear to be visible on the surveillance footage captured around the time of the robberies—at some unspecified point *after* the December 2018 incidents. (R. pp. 356-357; State’s Ex. # 7 (Surveillance Footage)).

Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012, 1016 (1988) (“[T]he Confrontation Clause guarantees the defendant a face-to-face meeting with witnesses appearing before the trier of fact.”); see also State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 128, 644 S.E.2d 693, 697 (2007) (finding identification evidence to be reliable where the victim had an ample opportunity to view her assailant at the time of the crime and had a “full facial view of him while he asked her questions”); State v. Stewart, 275 S.C. 447, 449-450, 272 S.E.2d 628, 629 (1980) (finding identification evidence to be reliable even though the victim was only able to view the perpetrator’s face for *five to seven seconds* during the incident); Govan, 372 S.C. at 560, 643 S.E.2d at 96 (recognizing a victim’s attention would have been heightened during an armed robbery).

Under such circumstances, no due process concerns were raised in Sturdivant’s case by virtue of Ward’s in-court identification since it was made for the first time during trial, and the procedural safeguards applicable when a *pre-trial* identification procedure has been employed were simply not applicable in Sturdivant’s case. See Lewis, 363 S.C. at 42, 609 S.E.2d at 518 (“We conclude, as the majority of courts have, that Neil v. Biggers does not apply to in-court identifications and that the remedy for any alleged suggestiveness of an in-court identification is cross-examination and argument. The United States Supreme Court has not extended its exclusionary rule to in-court identification procedures that are suggestive because of the trial setting.”); cf. People v. Morales, 109 N.Y.S.3d 650, 651 (N.Y. App. Div. 2019) (“The defendant’s due process rights were not violated when the Supreme Court permitted a witness to make a first-time, in-court identification during trial. In cases where there has been no pretrial identification procedure or the witness is unable to render a positive identification of the defendant, and the defendant is identified in court for the first time, the defendant is not deprived of a fair trial because the defense counsel is able to explore weaknesses and suggestiveness of the

identification in front of the jury” Here, defense counsel challenged the witness’s testimony during cross-examination by eliciting that the witness saw the perpetrator for only two or three seconds, and that the in-court identification was being made four years after the incident. Further, defense counsel discussed those weaknesses during summation. Moreover, the defendant’s challenge to the reliability of this evidence related to the weight to be afforded such evidence by the jury and not to its admissibility. . . .” (citations and internal quotations omitted)). Moreover, the fact Ward chose to exercise his absolute constitutional right to be present in the courtroom during Sturdivant’s trial in no way necessitated a different result since Ward’s presence *during trial* did not and could not result in any pre-trial identification being made outside the immediate supervision of the trial court as was necessary to trigger the need for any additional procedural safeguards beyond those that are a part of the trial process itself. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 24(A) (mandating a crime victim in South Carolina has a constitutional right to “be informed of and *present at* any criminal proceedings which are dispositive of the charges where the defendant has the right to be present” (emphasis added)); cf. State v. Adams, 430 S.C. 420, 438, 845 S.E.2d 217, 226 (Ct. App. 2020) (“As [the juvenile] victim’s mother, she had a constitutional right to be present at Adams’ trial.”).

Accordingly, even though the circumstances surrounding any first-time in-court identification are—by necessity—at least somewhat suggestive, the trial judge properly permitted Ward to identify his assailant during trial and correctly left it to the jurors to determine the reliability of that identification evidence just as they were tasked with doing with all the other evidence admitted during trial.⁶ See Perry, 565 U.S. at 245 (“[T]he jury, not the judge,

⁶ Moreover, since Ward’s identification only related to one of Sturdivant’s armed robbery charges, any conceivable error in the admission of that evidence would have been entirely harmless as to Sturdivant’s *other* armed robbery charge, which involved a different date and an

traditionally determines the reliability of evidence.”); Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 116 (“We are content to rely upon the good sense and judgment of American juries, for evidence with some element of untrustworthiness is *customary grist for the jury mill*. Juries are not so susceptible that they cannot measure intelligently the weight of identification testimony that has some questionable feature.” (citation omitted and emphasis added)); see also Stewart, 275 S.C. at 450, 272 S.E.2d at 629 (“[S]uggestiveness alone does not require the exclusion of evidence.”); cf. State v. Washington, 323 S.C. 106, 112, 473 S.E.2d 479, 482 (1996) (“Because the jury had the opportunity to observe the witness and attach the credibility it deemed proper to his testimony, including the certainty or uncertainty of his identification, the identification is not unreliable.”). Relatedly, since the trial judge committed no error by permitting Ward to make a first-time in-court identification during trial under the circumstances involved, the trial judge obviously did not err by declining to grant the extreme remedy of a mistrial based on that evidence’s proper admission. See Harris, 340 S.C. at 63, 530 S.E.2d at 628 (instructing a trial judge’s ruling on a mistrial motion “will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law”); see also State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 495, 692 S.E.2d 560, 563 (Ct. App. 2010) (“The power of the trial court to declare a mistrial should be used *with the greatest caution* under *urgent circumstances* and for very plain and obvious reasons stated on the record by the trial court.” (emphasis added)). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

entirely different victim who separately identified him as the perpetrator. See State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) (“Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.